#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ANDREW YOUNG,	)	NO.	83243	
Appellant,	) .			Electronically Filed Mar 08 2022 11:51 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown
vs.	)			Clerk of Supreme Court
THE STATE OF NEVADA,	)			
Respondent.	)			
	)			

# **APPELLANT'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF**

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

NANCY L. LEMCKE Nancy Lemcke Law, LLC. 10161 Park Run Dr., Ste. 150 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 (702) 902-6691

Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 671-2700

AARON D. FORD Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

- A. Statute which grants jurisdiction to review the judgment: NRS 177.015.
- B. Judgment of Conviction filed June 29, 2021; Notice of Appeal filed July 15, 2021.
- C. This appeal is from a final judgment entered pursuant to a jury verdict, the final judgment for which was entered June 29, 2021.

### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

D. This case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(2) because Appellant was adjudicated a habitual criminal under NRS 207.010(1)(b), for which the trial court sentenced him to life in prison (with parole eligibility after 10 years has been served). This amounts to a Category A felony disposition. See Doolin v. Department of Corrections, 123 Nev. 809 (Nev. Ct. App. 2018).

### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING TESTIMONY THAT AMOUNTED TO BAD ACT EVIDENCE.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING MULTIPLE OFFICERS TO NARRATE SURVEILLANCE FOOTAGE AND IDENTIFY MR. YOUNG AS ONE OF THE PERPETRATORS DEPICTED THEREIN.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT'S ADMISSION OF HEARSAY EVIDENCE VIOLATED MR. YOUNG'S CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY RIGHTS.
- IV. THE TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO DECLARE A MISTRIAL FOLLOWING A JUROR'S DISCLOSURE OF INFERENTIAL BIAS DURING TRIAL VIOLATED MR. YOUNG'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.
- V. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING DEFENSE COUNSEL TO CHALLENGE JUROR BILZERIAN'S PARTIALITY IN HIS PRESENCE AND BY FAILING TO EXCUSE JUROR BILZERIAN THEREAFTER.
- VI. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PROFFERING JURY INSTRUCTIONS THAT WERE MISLEADING AND/OR MISSTATED THE LAW.
- VII. MR. YOUNG'S DUAL CONVICTIONS FOR GRAND LARCENY AND LARCENY FROM THE PERSON VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY PRINCIPLES.
- VIII. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MR. YOUNG'S CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY RIGHTS BY ADJUDICATING HIM A HABITUAL OFFENDER IN THE ABSENCE OF THE INQUIRY AND FINDINGS REQUIRED BY NEVADA LAW.
- IX. THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO CONDUCT A JURY TRIAL ON THE HABITUAL OFFENDER ALLEGATION

- VIOLATED MR. YOUNG'S JURY TRIAL AND DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.
- X. MR. YOUNG RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT SENTENCING, THEREBY DEPRIVING HIM OF HIS SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.
- XI. THE PROSECUTION FAILED TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN MR. YOUNG'S CONVICTIONS.
- XII. CUMULATIVE ERROR WARRANTS REVERSAL OF MR. YOUNG'S CONVICTIONS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AS WELL AS ART. 1, SECT. 8 OF THE NEVADA CONSTITUTION.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 1, 2020, prosecutors charged Mr. Young via indictment with 22 felonies deriving from several wallet thefts and related fraudulent credit card transactions that occurred between June 29, 2020 and August 10, 2020. I App. 70-73; 76-84; II App. 384-89. Prosecutors brought the charges as part of a superseding indictment that included Attempt Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon and Battery With Use of a Deadly Weapon charges. I App. 1-2.

On February 22, 2020, prosecutors filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Punishment as a Habitual Criminal. I App. 234-36. A few weeks later, prosecutors filed an Amended Notice of Intent to Seek Punishment as a Habitual Criminal (hereinafter "Habitual Criminal Notice") which provided:

[P]ursuant to NRS 207.010 and NRS 207.012, the STATE OF NEVADA will seek punishment of Defendant ANDERW YOUNG as a habitual criminal in the event of a felony conviction in the above-entitled action. That in the event of a felony conviction in the above-entitled action, the State of Nevada will ask the court to sentence Defendant ANDERW YOUNG as a habitual criminal based upon the following felony convictions, to-wit:

- 1. That on or about 1985, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Pennsylvania, for the crime of THEFT BY UNLAWFUL TAKING OR DISPOSITION (felony) in case CP-51-CR-1215921-1984.
- 2. That on or about 1989, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Pennsylvania, for the crime of ROBBERY (felony) in case CP-51-CR-0234751-1989.
- 3. That on or about 1993, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Pennyslvania, for the crime of KNOWINGLY/INTENTIONALLY POSSESS CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE (felony) in case CP-51-CR-1220341-1990.
- 4. That on or about 1993, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Pennsylvania, for the crime of ROBBERY (felony) in case CP-51-CR-1224501-1992.
- 5. That on or about 1993, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Nevada, for the crime of POSSESSION OF CREDIT CARD WITHOUT CARDHOLDER CONSENT (felony) in C150727.
- 6. That on or about 1996, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Nevada, for the crime of BURGLARY (felony) in C134592.
- 7. That on or about 1996, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Nevada, for the crime of POSSESSION OF CREDIT CARD WITHOUT CARDHOLDER CONSENT (felony) in C134592.
- 8. That on or about 1998, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Nevada, for the crime of THEFT (felony) in C153059.
- 9. That on or about 2002, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Nevada, for the crime of LARCENY

FROM THE PERSON, VICTIM OVER 65 YEARS OF AGE OR OLDER (felony) in C184447.

- 10. That on or about 2003, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Nevada, for the crime of BURGLARY (felony) in C186802.
- 11. That on or about 2006, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Nevada, for the crime of FRAUDULENT USE OF CREDIT OR DEBIT CARD (felony) in C213942.
- 12. That on or about 2006, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Nevada, for the crime of LARCENY FROM THE PERSON (felony) in C213930.
- 13. That on or about 2017, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Nevada, for the crime of BATTERY WITH SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM (felony) in C327000.
- 14. That on or about 2019, the Defendant was convicted I the State of Nevada, for the crime of BATTERY WITH SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM (felony) in C341474.

Defendant ANDREW YOUNG, hereinbefore named, is further placed on notice that, in accordance with the authorization of NRS 207.012, punishment imposed pursuant to the above-stated habitual criminal statute is *mandatory* if said Defendant is found guilty on the primary offense of ATTEMPT MURDER WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B felony – NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.330, 193.165 – NOC 50031) and/or ATTEMPT MURDER, as Defendant ANDREW YOUNG, has previously been convicted of TWO (2) PRIOR offenses as stated in NRS 207.012, to wit:

- 1. That on or about 1989, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Pennsylvania for the crime of ROBBERY (felony) in case CP-51-CR-0234571-1989.
- 2. That on or about 1993, the Defendant was convicted in the State of Pennsylvania, for the crime of ROBBERY (felony) in case CP-51-1224501-1992.

# I App. 254-57.

On February 28, 2021, Mr. Young filed a Motion to Sever Counts requesting severance of the Attempt Murder/Battery charges from the theft-

related offenses. I App. 242-53. The trial court granted the motion (II App. 333-36), and the case proceeded to trial on a Second Superseding Indictment alleging only the theft-related offenses as follows:

Count 1 - Burglary; Count 2 - Larceny From the Person/Victim Over 60; Count 3 - Grand Larceny; Count 4 - Burglary; Count 5 - Fraudulent Use of Credit or Debit Card; Count 6 - Burglary; Count 7 - Burglary; Count 8 - Larceny From the Person/Victim Over 60; Count 9 - Burglary; Count 10 - Larceny From the Person/Victim Over 60; Count 11 - Burglary; Count 12 - Fraudulent Use of Credit or Debit Card; Count 13 - Burglary; Count 14 - Fraudulent Use of Credit or Debit Card; Count 15 - Burglary; Count 16 - Larceny From the Person/Victim Over 60; Count 17 - Burglary; Count 18 - Fraudulent Use of Credit or Debit Card; Count 19 - Burglary; Count 20 - Fraudulent Use of Credit or Debit Card; Count 21 - Burglary; Count 22 - Burglary.

II App. 360-65.1

Jurors ultimately convicted Mr. Young of all but two of the charged crimes (Counts 14, 20). II App. 375-80. At sentencing, the trial court adjudicated Mr. Young as a habitual offender pursuant to NRS 207.010(b) and sentenced him to nine (9) consecutive terms of 10 years to life in prison on Counts 1, 6, 7, 9, 11, 15, 17, 21, and 22. VII App. 1343-47. The court ran the sentences on the remaining counts concurrent to the habitual criminal sentences. <u>Id</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Notably, the conduct alleged in Counts 1-5 occurred on June 29, 2020. <u>Id.</u> The conduct alleged in the remaining counts occurred on or after July 8, 2020. Id.

The instant appeal follows.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Prosecutors alleged that, between June 29, 2020 and August 10, 2020, Mr. Young committed as series of thefts followed by fraudulent credit card transactions.

## Mary Campo

Mary Campo, 72, testified that, on June 29, 2020, she was sitting at the Rampart Casino playing a gaming machine when she was approached by two men. V App. 787-91. One of the men approached her from the right and asked her about something. <u>Id</u>. She could feel the other gentleman standing behind her. <u>Id</u>. After the men left, Ms. Campo reached inside her purse and noticed her wallet was missing. <u>Id</u>. Ms. Campo had approximately \$1400 as well as various cards, including her debit card, inside her wallet. <u>Id</u>.

Ms. Campo then contacted Bank of America to report her debit card stolen. V App. 792-94. That debit card ended in 1020. V App. 792-94. Not long thereafter, Ms. Campo received word that someone had tried to use her debit card at a 7-Eleven on Maryland Parkway. V App. 795.

Ms. Campo did not get a good look at the individuals who approached her in the casino. V App. 799.

LVMPD Officer Ethan Grimes was assigned to investigate Ms. Campo's wallet theft. VI App. 1163-65. He impounded surveillance video provided by the Rampart Casino. VI App. 1165. Officer Grimes testified that, in the surveillance video, the individuals seen near Ms. Campo were carrying jackets and "pretending to gamble but mainly looking around." VI App. 1166. Officer Grimes described how one of the individuals talked to Ms. Campo while the other reached in her purse and grabbed something, after which both individuals walked away. VI App. 1167.

Officer Grimes also obtained receipts and surveillance footage from the 7-11 where Ms. Campo's card was used. VI App. 1174-75. Marcia Martinez, the manager of that 7-11, located a receipt for cigarette purchase with Ms. Campo's card. VI App. 1008-09. Ms. Martinez also produced video surveillance footage of the transaction. VI App. 1008-09. Although not the individual working the cash register the night of the transaction, Ms. Martinez reviewed the footage and testified that the person who purchased the cigarettes was wearing a brown shirt. VI App. 1008-13.

Officer Grimes testified that it takes approximately 20-25 minutes to drive from the Rampart Casino to the 7-11 on Maryland Parkway where Ms. Campo's card was used. VI App. 1175. According to Officer Grimes, this time frame was consistent with the time the alleged perpetrators were

observed to have left the Rampart and arrived at the Maryland Parkway 7-11. VI App. 1173-76.

## Lydia Hefner

Vianca Eskildsen, an asset protection officer at Walmart on Eastern and Serene Avenue, testified that, on July 8, 2020, she was monitoring activity at her store when she noticed a man engaging in suspicious behavior. VI App. 1069. Ms. Eskildsen observed the man maneuvering a jacket around and "hovering over a customer" in a way that suggested to her "something was going to happen." VI App. 1071. So she went into her office and "picked up surveillance via CCTV." VI App. 1072. While watching the CCTV, Ms. Eskildsen observed the man to have his eyes trained on a customer's purse as he concealed his hand with his jacket. VI App. 1074-75. Worried, Ms. Eskildsen called police. VI App. 1075.

While waiting for officers to arrive, Ms. Eskildsen watched as the man began looking at another woman and her purse. VI App. 1078-80. Shortly thereafter, LVMPD officers arrived and joined her in her office. VI 1080-81. Together, Ms. Eskildsen and responding officers watched on the CCTV as the man took a wallet out of the woman's purse. VI App. 1081. Ms. Eskildsen and the officers then headed to the front of the store, where

they apprehended him. VI App. 1083-85. The man identified himself as Mr. Young. VI App. 1083-85.

The woman to whom that wallet belonged was Lydia Hefner, 69. Ms. Hefner testified that she was shopping at the Walmart when Ms. Eskildsen stopped her as she approached the checkout line. VI App. 1131-35. When Ms. Eskildsen asked that she check to make sure her wallet was still in her purse, Ms. Hefner discovered that her wallet was missing. <u>Id</u>.

LVMPD Officer Jerry Wheeler was one of the officers who responded to the Walmart to assist Ms. Eskildsen. V App. 840-41. Officer Wheeler testified that, as soon as he arrived at the store, he accompanied Ms. Eskildsen to the store security office to view surveillance footage of "a male that they've had problems with before, that they're concerned about him trying to steal." V App. 843-44. Officer Wheeler watched while the male "reached into someone else's cart and grabbed something." V App. 846. Upon seeing this, Officer Wheeler, along with LVMPD Officers Scott and Cunningham stopped the male, eventually identified as Mr. Young, at the store exit. V App. 846-48.

According to Officer Wheeler, Mr. Young, when confronted and Mirandized by officers, explained that he found Ms. Hefner's wallet on the floor in the milk aisle. V App. 851. Officer Wheeler issued Mr. Young a citation for petit larceny and released him. V App. 852; VI App. 1086.

## Rhonda Hatcher

Rhonda Hatcher, 64, testified that, on July 8, 2020, she was staying at Caesar's Palace Hotel and Casino with her mother when, after an evening out, the women encountered two men in a hotel elevator. VI App. 989-93. One of the men indicated he was blind and asked Ms. Hatcher if he pushed the right button for his floor. VI App. 993. Once Ms. Hatcher and her mother reached their floor, they had to step around the men to exit the elevator. VI App. 993.

As she walked to her room, Ms. Hatcher felt like something was wrong. VI App. 994. She checked her purse and discovered her wallet, which contained approximately \$180 as well as her debit and credit cards, was missing. VI App. 994-95. She then began utilizing the apps on her phone to shut down her cards and block further transactions on them. Id. Approximately 30 minutes later, Ms. Hatcher began receiving text messages notifying her of suspicious transactions on her cards. VI App. 996-97. One of the transactions was from a business referenced as "Speedway." VI App. 997-98. The transactions totaled around \$1,000. Id.

Ms. Hatcher did not identify either man with her in the elevator. VI App. 988-1006.

Once she returned home, Ms. Hatcher filed a report with the LVMPD. VI App. 995. Her case was assigned to LVMPD officer Jeremy Jacobitz, who immediately requested surveillance video from Caesar's. V App. 892. Narrating the video, Officer Jacobitz identified Andrew Young as the individual who took Ms. Hatcher's wallet based upon his review of "substantial video surveillance from various incidents during the summer 2020 months." V App. 894-95. Officer Jacobitz described the wallet theft as a 'distract theft' in which Mr. Young took Ms. Hatcher's blue wallet while his partner blocked the elevator doorway. V App. 895-98.

Over defense objection, Officer Jacobitz opined that the theft was a joint effort as neither Mr. Young nor his acquaintance was registered to the hotel; and after completing the 'distract theft' both men returned to the ground floor and left the casino. V App. 898-99. Officer Jacobitz additionally opined that Mr. Young was "...smooth at this. He's been doing this for a long time. He's good." V App. 897-98. However, Officer

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Defense counsel objected to Officer Jacobitz' opinion that Mr. Young was 'smooth' in his conduct but did so on the basis that Officer Jacobitz was unclear as to which of the two perpetrators he was referring to. V App. 897-98.

Jacobitz admitted that he had "no information" that Mr. Young had, indeed, "been doing this a long time." V App. 898.

#### Joanne Frank

Joanne Frank, 77, testified that, on July 22, 2020, she was shopping at Albertson's on Rainbow Boulevard when she was approached by two individuals as she perused frozen shrimp. V App. 811-13. She had a backpack-type purse with her, in which she had various personal items including her wallet. Id. Her wallet contained approximately \$75 as well as her credit and other cards. V App. 811-13; 816. While one of the individuals asked her questions about the shrimp, the other individual stood nearby, appearing to do nothing. V App. 813-15. Ms. Frank eventually left the store without buying anything. V App. 816. Once in her car, she noticed her purse felt lighter. Id. She looked for her wallet and discovered it She eventually received a notice from Bank of America that missing. Id. someone had tried to use one of her credit/debit cards at a Smith's grocery store on Sahara. V App. 817.

Ms. Frank could not provide identifying details regarding the individuals who approached her other than very general descriptors. V App. 820-21.

///

#### Barbara Bowen

Barbara Bowen, 81, testified that, on July 23, 2020, she was shopping with her daughter at Walmart on Boulder Highway when a man with a shopping cart approached her as she was getting fruit cups. VI App. 1049-52. Ms. Bowen testified she handed the man a fruit cup and then turned her back to him to get him another one. VI App. 1052. The man thanked her and went on his way. Id. Shortly thereafter, Ms. Bowen went to pay for some cosmetics and noticed her wallet, in which she had her credit/debit cards, her driver's license, and approximately \$70, missing from her purse. VI App. 1053-54. She notified store security and then went to Bank of America to report her cards stolen. VI App. 1053-55. Despite this, someone tried to use two of her Visa cards (ending in 4527 and 5664) at a GameStop, a Walgreens, and the Flamingo gift shop. VI App. 1056-63.

Ms. Bowen could not identify the man who took her wallet. VI App. 1059-60.

Investigating officers obtained receipts and surveillance footage of the transactions involving Ms. Bowen's cards at the GameStop and Walgreens. Based upon the receipts and surveillance footage, Kristen Trock, a GameStop store leader, testified that, on July 23, 2020, a man attempted to purchase a Vanilla Visa card for \$450 using (Ms. Bowen's) Visa credit card

ending in 4527.<sup>3</sup> V App. 960-68; 973-74; 968. Similarly, Janelle Phung, an assistant manager at Walgreens on Boulder Highway, testified that, on July 23, 2020 at approximately 2:19 p.m., a male customer tried to purchase a Vanilla Visa gift card with two different credit cards, both of which were declined.<sup>4</sup> VI App. 1098-99; 1106. The man then exited the store. VI App. 1098-99; 1106.

Neither Ms. Trock nor Ms. Phung identified Mr. Young as the individual who tried to use Ms. Bowen's cards.

#### <u>Serry Mello</u>

Serry Mello, 69, testified that, on July 29, 2020, he and his wife encountered two men in an elevator while they were on their way to their hotel room at the Flamingo Hotel and Casino. V App. 929-33. When Mr. Mello and his wife reached their floor, one of the men helped Mr. Mello, who was dragging two suitcases, exit the elevator. V App. 934. About fifteen (15) minutes later, Mr. Mello received a call from Wells Fargo indicating that there was suspicious activity on his debit card, including a charge for taxi fare as well as four attempted transactions at Target. V App.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> While Ms. Trock was the individual working the cash register, her testimony was based upon her review of the receipts and relevant surveillance video, much of which she narrated for jurors. V App. 961-69.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ms. Phung's testimony was based upon her review of the receipts and relevant surveillance video, much of which she narrated for jurors. VI App. 1096-99.

934-35. Mr. Mello checked his pocket and realized his wallet was gone. V App. 935. He had no idea it had been taken from him. V App. 939.

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