IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
   

 

 

ANDREW YOUNG, 

  Appellant, 

v. 

THE STATE OF NEVADA,  

  Respondent. 

  

 

 

Case No.   83243 

 

  

RESPONDENT’S ANSWERING BRIEF 

 
Appeal from Judgment of Conviction 

Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County 
 

ROUTING STATEMENT  

This appeal is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it 

is a direct appeal from a jury trial involving Category B felonies. NRAP 17(b)(2)(A).

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 First, Young fails to establish plain error regarding the admission of any bad 

acts. Young fails to establish the comments are references to any prior bad acts. 

Additionally, none of the comments are so inherently prejudicial that they compelled 

the district court to act. The comments were brief in nature and unsolicited by the 
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State. As such, Young cannot demonstrate error or that it was plain. Furthermore, 

Young cannot establish his substantial rights were impacted as any error was 

harmless in light of the substantial evidence presented against him.  

 Second, Young fails to establish plain error regarding the officers’ 

identification or discussion of surveillance footage. Officers are permitted to narrate 

surveillance footage when it assists the jury or is relevant to their investigation. The 

officers’ comments accomplished both needs. As such, Young cannot demonstrate 

error or that it was plain. 

 The officers also did not improperly identify Young. Their identification only 

occurred after they reviewed a considerable amount of surveillance footage. This 

surveillance footage showed Young wearing the same shoes. Additionally, one of 

the officers could identify Young based on his prior experience with him. As such, 

Young cannot demonstrate error or that it was plain. Furthermore, Young cannot 

establish his substantial rights were impacted as any error was harmless in light of 

the substantial evidence presented against him. 

 Third, the district court did not abuse its discretion regarding Young’s hearsay 

objection. At trial, Young objected to hearsay. The district court allowed the State 

to attempt to lay foundation. When the witness testified that he was told verbally, 

the State ended its line of questioning. The district court properly gave the State the 
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opportunity to lay foundation regarding Jacobitz’s statement. Furthermore, any error 

was harmless in light of the substantial evidence presented at trial. 

 Fourth, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Young’s 

motion for mistrial. Juror misconduct does not necessarily occur because a juror 

desires to aid a victim financially. Young and the district court extensively canvassed 

Juror No. 11. At no point did Juror No. 11 state that he came to a conclusion 

regarding Young’s guilt. In fact, he continuously stated that it had nothing to do with 

the case and that he only wanted to help the elderly victims of a crime. As such, 

Young failed to establish Juror No. 11’s actions constituted juror misconduct. 

 Fifth, Young fails to establish plain error regarding counsel’s comments. The 

district court did stop counsel from arguing in the presence of a juror. As such, 

Young cannot establish error or that it was plain since the district court cannot be 

blamed for the comment. Additionally, after the comment, Juror No. 11 continued 

to state he was not biased. As such, Young fails to establish it affected a substantial 

right. 

 Sixth, Young fails to establish plain error regarding the jury instructions. 

Young correctly points out Jury Instruction No. 10 was incorrect. However, he is not 

entitled to the reversal of the larceny charges as he cannot establish the error was 

patently prejudicial. The incorrect jury instruction did not affect the counts relating 

to Hatcher and Frank as the items were clearly stolen from their physical person. 
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Additionally, it does not affect any burglary count, as the crime of burglary is 

complete regardless of whether Young committed the underlying felony.  

 Jury Instructions No. 13 and 14 properly state the law. Young misinterprets 

the meaning of the instruction. However, the instruction is a clear statement of 

Nevada law. As such, Young cannot demonstrate error or that he was patently 

prejudiced.  

 Jury Instructions No. 22 and 23 also properly state the law. This Court already 

determined the language in each instruction is appropriate. As such, Young cannot 

demonstrate error or that he was patently prejudiced.  

 Seventh, Young fails to establish plain error regarding a double jeopardy 

violation. First, any argument is moot as the State agrees count two (2) should be 

reversed. However, even if this Court considers Young’s claim it is meritless. Grand 

larceny and larceny from the person each contain a unique element and are thus not 

the same offense under the Blockburger test. Young places his sole reliance on an 

unpublished case that was decided prior to January 1, 2016. Since he cannot cite this 

case, his argument is devoid of any legal authority. 

 Eighth, Young fails to establish plain error regarding the district court’s 

adjudication of him as a habitual criminal. Young claims he was entitled to a hearing 

to contest his prior convictions. However, Young never denied his prior convictions 

and thus was not entitled to a hearing. Furthermore, Young’s failure to oppose the 
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accuracy of his prior convictions should be read as a stipulation that they occurred. 

As such, Young cannot establish error or that any error was plain.  

 Ninth, Young fails to establish plain error regarding the district court not 

conducting a jury trial prior to adjudicating him as a habitual criminal. A jury 

determination is not necessary to adjudicate someone as a habitual criminal. 

Furthermore, any request to revisit this issue is inappropriate for plain error review.  

 Tenth, Young did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel. This Court 

should not entertain his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal. 

Regardless, Young fails to establish counsel’s conduct fell below an objective 

standard of reasonableness. At the sentencing hearing, trial counsel explained he 

believed the best choice was to appeal the case. This is a strategic decision counsel 

made after reviewing the issues. Furthermore, Young cannot establish he was 

prejudiced. The district court heard from Young about his struggles with addiction 

and had the Presentence Investigation Report to rely upon. Additionally, Young was 

not given the maximum penalty. As such, he cannot demonstrate a reasonable 

probability of a different outcome. 

 Eleventh, there was sufficient evidence to convict Young. Sufficient evidence 

established Young’s identity.  An officer observed Young steal a victim’s wallet on 

live surveillance and cited him with a misdemeanor. That officer was then able to 

identify Young as the man involved in one of the other offenses. Additionally, after 



 

I:\APPELLATE\WPDOCS\SECRETARY\BRIEFS\ANSWER & FASTRACK\2022 ANSWER\YOUNG, ANDREW, 83243, RESP'S ANSW. 

BRF..DOCX 

22 

reviewing substantial footage, officers were able to identify young based on his 

shoes and appearance. The State also admitted numerous exhibits showing Young 

commit the crimes. As such, a reasonable juror could have decided Young was the 

perpetrator of the offenses. 

 There was also sufficient evidence to establish Young’s intent. The jury heard 

testimony and saw surveillance footage depicting how Young behaved while at each 

business. Additionally, he carried a jacket with him to assist in the commission of 

his offense. A reasonable juror could infer that Young entered the buildings with the 

intent to commit a larceny or a different felony.  

 There was sufficient evidence to convict Young of burglary even though he 

was acquitted on the two underlying counts. Young was only acquitted on the 

underlying counts because he was not successful in fraudulently using the stolen 

cards. However, the crime of burglary was complete once he entered the building to 

fraudulently use the cards.  

 There was sufficient evidence to support counts eight (8) and ten (10). The 

record clearly showed that the victims associated with those counts exerted physical 

control over the stolen goods. The State does agree that count two (2) should be 

reversed due to insufficient evidence. However, this does not affect the burglary 

count associated with count two (2), as the burglary was complete when Young 

entered the building.  
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 Twelfth, there are no errors to cumulate. Young only has one meritorious 

claim regarding Jury Instruction No. 10 and count two (2). As such, there are no 

errors to cumulate. Additionally, the issue of guilt was not close, as there was 

substantial evidence supporting his conviction. Finally, even if this Court considers 

habitual adjudication a grave crime, it should not weigh heavily on its analysis due 

to the substantial evidence. 

ARGUMENT 

 Young raises twelve (12) issues in his Opening Brief. However, Young failed 

to object to the majority of these issues. Young forfeited the right to assert issues 

one (1), two (2), five (5), six (6), seven (7), eight (8), and nine (9). “The failure to 

preserve error, even an error that has been deemed structural, forfeits the right to 

assert it on appeal.” Jeremias v. State, 134 Nev. 46, 50, 412 P.3d 43, 48 (2018). 

However, NRS 178.602 allows an appellant to raise a forfeited claim so long as they 

can establish there are “plain errors or defects affecting substantial rights. The 

decision by this Court to address plain error is discretionary. City of Las Vegas v. 

Eighth Judicial Dist. Court in & for County of Clark, 133 Nev. 658, 660, 405 P.3d 

110, 112 (2017). To “correct a forfeited error, an appellant must demonstrate that: 

(1) there was an ‘error;’ (2) the error is ‘plain,’ meaning that it is clear under current 

law from a casual inspection of the record; and (3) the error affected the defendant’s 
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substantial rights.” Jeremias, 134 Nev. at 50, 412 P.3d 43, 48. The standard of review 

for the remaining claims will be discussed in each section.  

I. YOUNG FAILS TO ESTABLISH PLAIN ERROR REGARDING THE 

ADMISSION OF ANY BAD ACTS 

 

Young argues plain error occurred when the district court failed to sua sponte 

strike testimony. NRS 48.045 provides the rules for character evidence: 

1. Evidence of a person's character or a trait of his or her 

character is not admissible for the purpose of proving that 

the person acted in conformity therewith on a particular 

occasion, except: 

(a) Evidence of a person's character or a trait of his 

or her character offered by an accused, and similar 

evidence offered by the prosecution to rebut such 

evidence; 

(b) Evidence of the character or a trait of character 

of the victim of the crime offered by an accused, subject 

to the procedural requirements of NRS 48.069 where 

applicable, and similar evidence offered by the 

prosecution to rebut such evidence; and 

(c) Unless excluded by NRS 50.090, evidence of the 

character of a witness, offered to attack or support his or 

her credibility, within the limits provided by NRS 50.085. 

2. Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not 

admissible to prove the character of a person in order to 

show that the person acted in conformity therewith. It may, 

however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof 

of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, 

knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. 

3. Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit the 

admission of evidence in a criminal prosecution for a 

sexual offense that a person committed another crime, 

wrong or act that constitutes a separate sexual offense. As 

used in this subsection, “sexual offense” has the meaning 

ascribed to it in NRS 179D.097. 
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To be deemed an admissible bad act, the trial court must determine, outside the 

presence of the jury, that: (1) the incident is relevant to the crime charged; (2) the 

act is proven by clear and convincing evidence; and (3) the probative value of the 

evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Tinch v. 

State, 113 Nev. 1170, 1176, 946 P.2d 1061, 1064-65 (1997).  

Young argues that Jacobitz and Cipriano’s testimony that they reviewed video 

surveillance to identify Young constituted bad act evidence. Opening Brief, at 27-

28. However, the video surveillance they reviewed came from the charged offenses. 

Throughout trial, the State admitted multiple exhibits of video surveillance from the 

different incidents. As such, Jacobitz and Cipriano saying they relied on video 

surveillance does not involve any other act. Since NRS 48.045 does not forbid 

witnesses from discussing evidence related to the charges, Young fails to establish 

any error occurred or that any error was plain. 

Young then argues that Grimes stating he “did a records check” constituted 

bad act evidence. Opening Brief, at 28. NRS 48.045 “is not implicated where the 

conduct referenced is not a bad act or crime.” Emerson v. State, No. 80749, 2021 

WL 1533637, at *1 (Nev. Apr. 16, 2021) (citing Lamb v. State, 127 Nev. 26, 41, 251 

P.3d 700, 710 (2011). At no point did Grimes testify that finding a match during a 

records check means the person committed some bad act or crime. As such, it does 

not implicate NRS 48.045. Likewise, Wheeler’s statement does not specifically 
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assert Young committed any prior bad acts. Accordingly, Young fails to establish 

these statements constituted error or that any error was plain. 

Young also cannot establish the statement were “so inherently prejudicial” 

that the district court was “compelled to preclude the statement sua sponte.” Baker 

v. State, 89 Nev. 87, 88, 506 P.2d 1261, 1261 (1973); Wilson v. State, 86 Nev. 320, 

326, 468 P.2d 346, 350 (1970). The statements from Wheeler and Jacobitz were brief 

in nature and unsolicited by the State.9 Even if these statements should not have been 

made, the district court sua sponte striking testimony would have only drawn 

attention to the brief comments. As such, Young fails to show any comment was so 

inherently prejudicial that it required the district court to act.  

Furthermore, Young’s substantial rights were not impacted because any error 

was harmless in light of the substantial evidence presented against him. As discussed 

below, section XI, there was substantial evidence showing Young committed the 

offenses. As such, he cannot demonstrate any error affected his substantial rights. 

Accordingly, Young cannot establish plain error. 

II. YOUNG FAILS TO ESTABLISH PLAIN ERROR REGARDING THE 

OFFICERS’ IDENTIFICATION OF YOUNG AND DISCUSSION OF 

SURVEILLANCE FOOTAGE 

 

 
9 After Jacobitz made his statement, the State clarified that he did not have any 

information regarding Young “doing this for a long time.” VAA898. 
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Young argues plain error occurred when the trial court failed to sua sponte 

preclude officers’ testimony. Opening Brief, at 31. Specifically, his claim involves 

both narration of the surveillance footage and his identification. Opening Brief, at 

31-35. 

A. Officers Did Not Improperly Narrate the Surveillance Footage 

 

Young argues that multiple officers improperly narrated portions of the 

surveillance footage. Opening Brief, at 31-35. Officers are allowed to narrate 

surveillance footage to “assist the jury in making sense of the images depicted in the 

video.” Burnside v. State, 131 Nev. 371, 388, 352 P.3d 627, 639 (2015). 

Additionally, officers can narrate surveillance footage when it is “relevant to law 

enforcement’s investigation.” See Smith v. State, No. 67431, 2016 WL 1091729, at 

*2 (Nev. Mar. 17, 2016). The testimony Young contests falls neatly into both 

categories. The State presented a considerable amount of surveillance footage. This 

footage depicted events from different days and locations. As such, officers needed 

to explain what occurred to assist the jury in their understanding of the footage. 

Furthermore, the officers’ comments were all related to their investigation. As such, 

Young forfeited any argument as he cannot establish any error occurred or that it 

was plain.  

/ / / 

/ / / 
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B. Officers Did Not Improperly Identify Young 

 

Young argues that multiple officers improperly identified him. Opening Brief, 

at 31-35. For officers to independently identify a defendant, they must “have some 

prior knowledge or familiarity with the [defendant] or [be] qualified experts in 

videotape identification.” Burnside, 131 Nev. at 388, 352 P.3d at 639. However, 

officers may identify a defendant when they base the identification on other 

evidence. Id. Here, officers reviewed surveillance footage from their respective 

incidents and other incidents. VIAA1151-52, 1170-72; VIIAA946, 1207-19. 

Grimes, Liske, and Byrd explained that Young continued to wear the same shoes 

during these incidents. VIAA1151-52, 1170-72; VIIAA1212-1217. Additionally, 

Wheeler already identified Young as the man in the video. Wheeler had prior 

familiarity with Young after watching him steal and then citing him.

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